# IN THE SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GENE JONES, ASHLEY CRAFT RALPH SCOTT, HARDY GORDON, JAMES WILLIAMS AND REGGIE WILLIAMS

**APPELLANTS** 

**VERSUS** 

NO. 2008-CA-00456

FLUOR DANIEL SERVICES CORPORATION

**APPELLEE** 

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

#### CIRCUIT JUDGE PRESIDING

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

<u>POINT ONE:</u> THE HONORABLE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING, ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT, PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS OF INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS

<u>POINT TWO:</u> THE HONORABLE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN APPLYING A ONE YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS TO PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS OF INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS

<u>POINT THREE:</u> THE HONORABLE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED IT'S DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE DEFENDANT TO FILE IT'S ANSWER TO THE AMENDED COMPLAINT MORE THAN FOUR YEARS LATE

<u>POINT FOUR:</u> THE HONORABLE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED IT'S DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE DEFENDANT TO PROPOUND INITIAL DISCOVERY MORE THAN FOUR YEARS LATE

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the second appearance of this matter before this Honorable Supreme Court. It first appeared here as cause no. 2005-CA-00825-SCT, resulting in reversal and remand for further proceedings on the issue of intentional infliction of emotional distress. The Mandate to the Honorable Circuit Court was dated August 2, 2007.

The Plaintiffs in this case, all African-American males, were employees of Fluor Daniels Services Corporation in the late Summer and early Fall of 2001. While under Fluor Daniels employ, the Plaintiffs worked directly for a Supervisor named Rudy Amaro, who was of Hispanic descent. Mr Amaro was named a Defendant in the Circuit Court but was never found to be served with Summons.

Plaintiffs contend that in the course and scope of their employment with Fluor Daniel, Defendant: subjected them to a repeated, continual course of outrageous conduct, such as repeatedly calling them names ("niggers", "specs", "monkeys"; repeatedly told them they could "go to work or go to the rope"; segregated Plaintiffs from workers of other races in their work duties; assigned Plaintiffs the nastiest, hottest and most unsavory jobs, while employees of other races were spared those tasks; refused equal opportunity of overtime to the African American employees; refused equal opportunity of advancement to African American employees; constantly harassed and demeaned them; instructed these employees to stay away from a female co-worker of Mexican descent; daily joked about, ridiculed and laughed at African American employees; and withheld the African American employees' paychecks until well after other employees received their paychecks.

#### **COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN LITIGATION**

Gene Jones filed his original Complaint in this action on April 4, 2003. Before Service of Process, a *First Amended Complaint for Damages* was filed June 12, 2003, an Alias Summons issued for Fluor Daniel and Rudy Amaro. Plaintiffs traveled on several legal theories, including Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress.

Amaro was never found for service of process and is believed to have returned to Mexico. Fluor Daniel was served, and filed its *Fluor Daniel's Defenses*, *Answer and Affirmative Defenses* on August 14, 2003, in response to the First Amended Complaint. (R.19)

Subsequently an Order granting leave to file a Second Amended Complaint was filed on October 30, 2003, and the *Second Amended Complaint for Damages* was filed on October 30, 2003. (R.1, 5). Defendant never filed any Answer to the *Second Amended Complaint for Damages* (until January 22, 2008) but did actively participate in the litigation throughout the course of same.

The litigation proceeded, and after a removal to federal court and remand (as cause no. 4:03cv399LN in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi), written discovery, various motions and motion hearings, and many days of depositions, Defendant filed for summary judgment in toto, which was granted by the Honorable Circuit Court on March 30, 2005. Plaintiffs perfected their appeal to this Honorable Supreme Court, as cause no. 2005-CA-00825-SCT, resulting in reversal and remand for further proceedings on the issue of intentional

infliction of emotional distress. The Mandate to the Honorable Circuit Court was dated August 2, 2007.

Upon remand, there was again a flurry of activity in State Court, including a peremptory setting of the case for jury trial to start February 4, 2008, discovery motions, comprehensive *limine* motions and hearings thereon, status conferences, other motion hearings, and Court ordered mediation (R.3-4). Through it all, Defendant actively participated in the entire litigation process.

Defendant served it's first set of interrogatories on Plaintiff on January 15, 2008, only 20 days before trial (R.79). Plaintiffs promptly responded with their Motion for Protective Order served January 17, objecting to the grossly delinquent service of initial Discovery (R.28).

Only 13 days before trial, Defendant filed a written answer to the Second Amended Complaint, without leave of Court, this on January 22, 2008, well over four years past due (remember the Second Amended Complaint was filed October 30, 2003) (R.19). This unauthorized filing was followed by Defendant's Motion for Leave to File the Answer Out of Time, filed January 24, 2008. (R.3, 32). Plaintiffs promptly responded with Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Untimely Filed Answer and Defenses, on January 25, 2008 (R.4).

Defendant raised in its said tardy Answer the affirmative defense of statute of limitations, arguing that the Plaintiffs' charge of intentional infliction of emotional distress was barred by a one year statute of limitations. (R.24). The Defendant had not previously raised this defense, except saying in it's answer to the *First Amended* 

Complaint, filed on August 14, 2003 (R.88): "Second Defense: The Plaintiffs claims, to the extent any are stated, may be barred by statutes of limitation". [emphasis added]. Defendant had not before called up this statute of limitations argument, nor otherwise pled it, nor filed any motion thereon, nor advanced it in any way, through almost five years of litigation.

Defendant also filed, on January 22, 2008, its Motion for Summary Judgment (R.3, 24), alleging that the intentional infliction of emotional distress claims of the Plaintiffs were barred by the one year statute of limitations of MCA §15-1-35. Plaintiffs immediately countered with their *Plaintiffs' Response to Fluor Daniels Motion For Summary Judgment*, filed January 25, 2008 (R.35), arguing Defendant's waiver of this affirmative defense, if any it had, by it years of participation in the litigation without either raising or pursuing such defense; and arguing that the three year statute should apply.

Motion hearings on these matters were scheduled for January 25, 2008, and argument was preserved therein, constituting the transcript in this matter. The Honorable Circuit Court allowed the out of time filing of Defendant's Answer, in its Bench Ruling (T.12) followed by its *Order Granting Leave to File Answer Out of Time* filed January 30, 2008 (R.43). The Honorable Circuit Court went on to announce its Bench Ruling denying Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, finding that the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress was not one of those intentional torts specifically enumerated in MCA §15-1-35, and therefore was not covered by the one year statute (T.21).

However later that same day, January 25, 2008, the Honorable Circuit Court reversed its Bench Ruling, announcing the reversal by its letter dated January 25, 2008 (R.82), granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on the statute of limitations.

Plaintiffs responded on February 5, 2008, with both their letter to the Honorable Circuit Court (R.57) and their motion for findings of fact and conclusions of law, pursuant to M.R.C.P. 52 (R.54), seeking understanding as to His Honor's reasoning, and to insure that this issue was well preserved for appeal. No Findings of Fact nor Conclusions of Law were handed down.

The Honorable Circuit Court entered its *Opinion and Order Grating Fluor Daniels Motion for Summary Judgment*, on March 6, 2008 (R.63). It is important to note that the Honorable Circuit Court specifically found that "Although intentional infliction of emotional distress is not included in this list [of intentional torts in MCA §15-1-35], the Supreme Court of Mississippi has held that the one year statute of limitations applies to this tort. . . ". The Honorable Circuit Court contemporaneously entered its Final Judgment (R.62).

Plaintiffs, aggrieved at these rulings, promptly perfected their appeal on March 7, 2008. (R.66-68).

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is well settled that this Honorable Supreme Court applies a de novo standard of review to the grant of a Summary Judgment by a trial court. <u>Aetna Cas.</u> & <u>Surety Co. v. Berry</u>, 669 So.2d 56 (Miss. 1996), <u>Leffler v. Sharp</u>, 891 So.2d 152 (Miss. 2004), <u>Jones v. Fluor Daniel Servs. Corp.</u>, 959 So.2d 1044 (Miss. 2007).

Likewise, statute of limitations issues as well as other questions of law, are also taken up by this Honorable Supreme Court de novo. <u>Stephens v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of The United States</u> 850 So. 2d 78 (Miss. 2003), <u>Chimento v. Fuller</u>, 965 So. 2d 668 (Miss. 2007).

### <u>POINT ONE:</u> THE HONORABLE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING, ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT, PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS OF INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS

Plaintiffs submit that the Honorable Circuit Court erred in dismissing, on Summary Judgment, Plaintiffs lawsuit, and more specifically, that the Honorable Circuit Court erred in finding that the affirmative defense of statute of limitations had not been waived by Defendant.

Plaintiffs filed its Second Amended Complaint on October 30, 2003 (R.5).

M.R.C.P. 15(a) required the service of Defendant's Answer to the Second Amended

Complaint within ten days, or on or before November 9, 2003. M.R.C.P. 12(b)

requires every defense to be asserted in the responsive pleading. M.R.C.P. 8(c) directs that the statute of limitations must have been pled as an Affirmative Defense, and M.R.C.P. 8(d) states clearly that the averments of the Complaint are admitted when not denied in the required responsive pleading. Collectively, these rules leave no doubt that an Answer had to be served by November 9, 2003, plainly asserting the Affirmative Defense of Statute of Limitations, and the failure to do so left the averments of the Complaint admitted.

In this case the Defendant did file an Answer to the First Amended Complaint on August 14, 2003. (R.88). In that pleading the Defendant did not affirmatively assert the defense of statute of limitations; rather it wrote only that same "may" be barred by some unspecified "statutes of limitations" (R.88).

Much more critical to the determination of this point is the fact that the Defendant did absolutely nothing to advance or assert any argument that the statute of limitations had run, but rather remained absolutely moot on same, while participating in this litigation for years and years. Defendant perfected a removal to Federal District Court and suffered remand; it took many days of depositions of all of the Plaintiffs (R.1-2, 97); it propounded requests for admissions to Plaintiffs and motions to compel responses thereto (R.1-2) and finally propounded written interrogatories to the Plaintiffs days before trial (R.79); it answered Plaintiffs' written discovery requests (R.11) and defended Plaintiffs' Motions to Compel Discovery (T.26-27); it participated in status conferences and Motion hearings (R.1-4); it prosecuted a Motion for Summary Judgment to completion in 2005 (R.2-4); it

defended the appeal of that Summary Judgment to Partial Reversal and Remand, then it pursued Requests for Re-Hearing before the Mississippi Supreme Court (see docket in 2005-CA-00825-SCT); after remand from the Mississippi Supreme Court it participated in more status conferences, entered into an Agreed Order Setting Cause for Trial, participated in mediation, prosecuted an extensive Motion in Limine through Motion Hearing (R.1-4); and did in late January, 2008, belatedly file an Answer (R.19), then sought leave of the Court to approve the late filing of that Answer (R.32). As already mentioned, in late January, 2008 Defendant filed, for the first time, Interrogatories propounded to the Plaintiffs and its motion to shorten discovery time to 10 days (see R.28, T. 24-28).

Only after the litigation had proceeded for almost five years did the Defendant make any serious effort to advance its statute of limitations argument. That simply came too late.

Since the earliest days of Mississippi jurisprudence it has been well established law that the statute of limitations is an affirmative defense that can be waived if not promptly pursued. <u>M.G. Wilkinson v. R. Flowers</u>, 37 Miss. 579 (1859). <u>Patterson v. Ingraham & Reed</u>, 23 Miss. 87 (1851).

Very recently the Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have had multiple occasions to address the waiver of affirmative defenses and to "flesh out" this point of law. Beginning with <u>Mississippi Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton</u>, 926 So. 2d 167 (Miss. 2006), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

"... a Defendant's failure to timely and reasonably raise and pursue the enforcement of *any affirmative defense* or other

affirmative matter or right which would serve to terminate or stay the litigation, coupled with active participation in the litigation process, will ordinarily serve as a waiver" <u>Mississippi Credit Center, Inc.</u>, Supra, at ¶44. [emphasis added].

- "... we do hold however that absent extreme and unusual circumstances an eight month unjustified delay in the assertion and pursuit of <u>any affirmative defense</u> or other right which, if timely pursued, could serve to terminate the litigation, coupled with active participation in the litigation process, constitutes waiver as a matter of law. <u>Mississippi</u> Credit Center, Inc., Supra, at ¶45. [emphasis added].
- "...to pursue an affirmative defense or other such rights, a party need only assert it in a pleading, bring it to the Court's attention by Motion, and request a hearing." <u>Mississippi Credit Center, Inc.</u>, Supra, Foot Note No. 9.

In <u>Mississippi Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton</u>, Supra, the affirmative defense at issue was the right to arbitration. <u>East Mississippi State Hospital v. Adams</u>, 947 So. 2d 887 (Miss. 2007) is the next major case in this line, this time dealing with the defenses of insufficient process and insufficient service of process. Again the Mississippi Supreme Court announced that "a Defendant's failure to timely and reasonably <u>raise</u> and <u>pursue</u> the enforcement of <u>any</u> <u>affirmative defense</u> or other affirmative matter or right which would serve to terminate or stay the litigation, coupled with active participation in the litigation process, will ordinarily serve as a waiver." <u>East Mississippi State Hospital</u>. Supra, at ¶10 [emphasis added]. In the East Mississippi State Hospital case, the Defendants did properly raise in their answer their affirmative defenses (insufficient process and insufficient service of process), but participated in the litigation and waited twenty-one and one-half months to file their Motion for Summary Judgment. The Mississippi Supreme Court found that the Defendant's participation in the

litigation coupled with their failure to pursue those defenses for twenty-one and one-half months waived those defenses.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals came to the same conclusion and recognized and applied and this law in reversing the lower court, in *Whitten v. Whitten*, 956 So. 2d 1093 (Miss. 2007).

More recently the Mississippi Supreme Court took up the case of <u>Estate of Grimes v.</u>

<u>Warrington.</u> 982 So. 2d 365 (Miss. 2008). In that case the affirmative defense deemed waived was immunity under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, and the Mississippi Supreme Court again cited <u>East Mississippi State Hospital v. Adams</u>, supra, and <u>Mississippi Credit Center</u>, <u>Inc. v.</u>

<u>Horton</u>, supra, and again re-emphasized, in very plain language, what a Defendant has to do to avoid the enforced waiver of any affirmative defenses:

- "... a Defendant's failure to timely and reasonably [1] raise and [2] pursue the enforcement of any affirmative defense or other affirmative matter or right which would serve to terminate or stay the litigation, coupled with active participation in the litigation process, will ordinarily serve as a waiver ..." <u>Estate of Grimes</u>, Supra at ¶ 22 [Numbering added for emphasis].
- ". . . this Court advised that to "pursue" an affirmative defense meant to [1] plead it [2] bring it to the Court's attention, and [3] request a hearing." *Estate of Grimes*, Supra, at ¶ 23 (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court felt it important to point out that Dr. Warrington offered no explanation as to why he did not move the lower Court for Summary Judgment for years during the litigation process; he offered no evidence that any information needed to assert this affirmative defense was not available to him from the inception of the litigation; and he actively

participated in the litigation. The Supreme Court found that the entire litigation was an unnecessary and excessive waste of time and resources of both the parties and the Court if Dr. Warrington had intended to pursue his affirmative defense.

All of those same arguments apply with absolute equal force here. Fluor Daniel has offered no explanation as to why it did not move for summary judgment for well over four years; Fluor Daniel offers no evidence that the information needed to assert this affirmative defense was not available to it from the inception of the litigation; Fluor Daniel very actively participated in the litigation; and all of the litigation was an unnecessary and excessive waste of the time and resources of the parties and the Court if Fluor Daniel intended to assert a statute of limitations defense.

Accordingly, applicable case law leads inescapably to the conclusion that the Defendant has waived the defense of statute of limitations if any it had. Defendant did not adequately plead the statute of limitations in its 2003 Answer, saying only vaguely that the claims of the Plaintiffs "may" be barred by unspecified "statutes of limitations". However, the point more major that whether the Defendant adequately *pled* a statute of limitations defense in 2003, is that Defendant unquestionably actively participated in the litigation process for almost five years without *pursuing* that defense at all. The Defendant did not "bring it to the Court's attention" by filing any motion, affirmative defense, or otherwise, and further did not "request a hearing" for years and years, all the while actively participating in the litigation. *Estate of Grimes*, Supra, at ¶ 23 (emphasis added).

It is apparent from reading the transcript that the notion of the statute of limitations defense truly never occurred to the Defendant's attorney during the several years of this

litigation. Defense counsel admitted to the Court in the Motion hearing that he only recognized, during mediation, that there may be a statute of limitations defense (T.2, line 23).

Plaintiffs urge this Honorable Court to find that the Defendant has waived any statute of limitation argument it might have had, both by failing to adequately plead it, and by active participation in the litigation process for years without pursuing it; and to remand for a trial on the merits.

## <u>POINT TWO:</u> THE HONORABLE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN APPLYING A ONE YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS TO PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS OF INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS

The correct statute of limitations to apply to the tort of *intentional infliction of emotional*distress has created a legal conundrum in the State of Mississippi.

At issue is the application of MCA §15-1-35 to the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress. MCA §15-1-35 provides as follows:

"All actions for assault, assault and battery, maining, false imprisonment, malicious arrest, or menace, and all actions for slanderous words concerning the person or title, for failure to employ, and for libels, shall be commenced within one (1) year next after the cause of such action accrued, and not after."

Whether the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress (hereafter "I.I.E.D") falls within the ambit of this statute has been quite problematic for Mississippi Courts, state and federal, and has spawned inconsistent results. For example, in *Norman v. Bucklew*, 648 So.2d 1246 (Miss. 1996), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that both "intentional and/or negligent infliction of emotional distress claims are governed by the three year statute of

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