IN THE SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-00456

GENE JONES, ASHLEY CRAFT, RALPH SCOTT, HARDY GORDON, JAMES WILLIAMS, and REGGIE WILLIAMS

APPELLANTS

٧.

FLUOR DANIEL SERVICES CORPORATION

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE FINAL JUDGMENT
OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JONES COUNTY,
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
CIVIL ACTION NO. 13-0036

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

GARY E. FRIEDMAN, MB # SAUNDRA STRONG, MB PHELPS DUNBAR LLP

111 East Capitol Street, Ste. 600 Jackson, MS 39201-2122 PO Box 23066 Jackson, MS 39225-3066 Telephone: (601) 352-2300

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

¹⁶ A similar standard of review governs tardy amendments to pleadings. <u>See, e.g., Taylor Machine Works, Inc. v. Great American Surplus Lines Ins. Co.</u>, 635 So. 2d 1357, 1362 (Miss. 1994). This deferential standard of review is grounded in the principle of Miss. Rule Civ. P. 15(a) that leave to amend should be freely given in the "interests of justice." Only actual prejudice to the opposing party warrants denial of leave to amend. <u>See, e.g., Rector v. Mississippi State Hwy. Comm'n</u>, 623 So. 2d 975, 978 (Miss. 1993).

¹⁷ Other than in the ways set forth, the two pleadings differ from one another only in the occasional capitalizing and insertion of titles (e.g., "Defendant" and "Co-Defendant"), in referring to Fluor Daniel as "Fluor Daniel Services Corporation" rather than simply "Fluor Daniel," and in the addition of names above the signature line for Plaintiffs' counsel.

the earlier filed answer. Indeed, the facts here are stronger than they were in Presley: here, Fluor Daniel changed *nothing* in its out-of time answer; in Presley, the City of Jackson added three affirmative defenses. Here, the statute of limitations defense was in Fluor Daniel's first answer, just as it was in the second.

While the Brief of Appellants correctly observes that Fluor Daniel's counsel explained as an "oversight" his failure to answer timely the Second Amended Complaint for Damages, see Brief of Appellants, p.19; T.11, Plaintiffs misapprehend and, consequently, misstate the standard for determining whether a tardy pleading should be allowed. Contrary to Plaintiffs' assertion, excusable neglect is *not* the issue. Rather, the issue – focusing on the Plaintiffs, not Fluor Daniel or its counsel – is whether Plaintiffs were surprised or unduly prejudiced by the late answer. Plaintiffs do not argue to this Court that they were unfairly surprised or unduly prejudiced, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that Plaintiffs neither were unfairly surprised nor unduly prejudiced.

Here, as in <u>Presley</u>, Plaintiffs never sought to default Fluor Daniel for not filing an answer to the Second Amended Complaint for Damages. Plaintiffs here were not surprised by anything appearing in the tardy answer; it was identical to Fluor Daniel's first pleading, including the assertion of a statute of limitations defense.¹⁸ Plaintiffs' counsel obviously had considered the defense even before

¹⁸ Plaintiffs complain that Fluor Daniel did not plead the defense properly because it used the word "may" to predicate the defense's applicability. This argument is frivolous. Aside from

initiating the lawsuit, which is why he pled negligent, rather than intentional, infliction of emotional distress. Plaintiffs addressed discovery to Fluor Daniel concerning the defense, signifying their awareness of the defense from the outset of the litigation.

Most importantly, Plaintiffs suffered no prejudice, which, under <u>Presley</u>, is the dispositive issue. Fluor Daniel's statute of limitations defense was anchored in the simple, indelible fact of the relationship between the dates of Plaintiffs' terminations by Fluor Daniel and the dates when they either filed (Jones) or joined (the remaining five Plaintiffs) the lawsuit. No tactic or stratagem could have been developed by Plaintiffs at any time during the litigation to avoid the inexorable consequence of this relationship: Plaintiffs' i.i.e.d. claims were time-barred on the day (or days) they were pled. The best and worst that can be said for Plaintiffs' situation is that they almost got away with going to trial (and, perhaps, getting to a jury) on time-barred claims. There is no authority in Mississippi or any other jurisdiction that such a near escape from the jaws of the statute of limitations constitutes prejudice.

the overarching principle of notice pleading – there is no magic to articulating a defense, and the words "statute of limitations," without more, would have sufficed to notify Plaintiffs of the defense – Fluor Daniel had to word the defense as it did because of Plaintiffs' artful avoidance of the defense by articulating their claim as one for *negligent* infliction of emotional distress.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Considering Fluor Daniel's Statute of Limitations Defense Advanced in a Summary Judgment Motion Filed Two Weeks Before Trial

Again, this Court reviews for an abuse of discretion whether the trial court properly considered Fluor Daniel's statute of limitations defense advanced in its summary judgment motion filed two weeks before trial. See Bennett v.

Madakasira, 821 So. 2d 794, 802 ¶ 30 (Miss. 2002). The trial court here did not abuse that discretion.

Initally, the Court should be aware that *none* of the authorities upon which Plaintiffs rely in their Brief of Appellants are statute of limitations cases. On the other hand, *every* case upon which Fluor Daniel relies addresses a claimed waiver of a statute of limitations defense has found *against* waiver and in favor of the trial court's consideration of the defense. See Bennett, supra; McGuffie v. Herrington, 966 So. 2d 1274 (Miss. App. 2007). See also Theunissen v. GSI Group, 109 F. Supp. 2d 505 (N.D. Miss. 2000) (allowing statute of limitations defense raised for first time in summary judgment motion because plaintiff neither surprised nor prejudiced).

In <u>Bennett</u>, a defendant raised a statute of limitations defense *for the first* time in a summary judgment motion. The defense never had been pled. (Here, it was.) The Court reasoned that the trial court properly exercised its discretion in allowing the defense because the "defendant's timing [did not] result[] in unfair

surprise or undue prejudice." 821 So. 2d at 802, ¶ 29. 19 The Court observed that the plaintiff was given an opportunity to respond, which was sufficient to support the trial court's discretionary determination.

Plaintiffs' argument in their Brief of Appellants suffers from two related infirmities. First, they do not even attempt to argue or demonstrate surprise at or prejudice resulting from Fluor Daniel's timing, which are *the* tests for determining whether a waiver occurs under these circumstances. See Bennett, supra, at 802, \$\frac{1}{27-30}\$; McGuffie, supra, at 1277, n.4 and accompanying text; Theunissen, supra, at 509. Fluor Daniel already has explained in detail that Plaintiffs neither were surprised nor prejudiced – unfairly, unduly, or otherwise – by the fact that Fluor Daniel brought the statute of limitations defense in a late summary judgment motion. This is a critical defect in Plaintiffs' position on waiver.

Second, Plaintiffs' "you're late; you lose" approach to the waiver issue hides a fundamental consistency in the case law that, at first glance (and at Plaintiffs'), does not appear. If nothing but the results in the cases are heeded – defense waived versus defense not waived – the cases appear inconsistent. Compare

Bennett, supra (statute of limitations defense not waived although raised for the first time in a summary judgment motion), McGuffie, supra (same), and

Theunissen, supra (same), with Estate of Grimes v. Warrington, 982 So. 2d 365

¹⁹ Again, Plaintiffs' "inexcusable neglect" argument misses the point. The Court's focus should be on unfair surprise or undue prejudice to the Plaintiffs, not on neglect, excusable or otherwise, by Fluor Daniel.

(Miss. 2008) (Mississippi Tort Claims Act immunity waived because not pled). East Mississippi State Hosp. v. Adams, 947 So. 2d 887 (Miss. 2007) (insufficiency of process waived if not promptly and diligently pursued as defense), and MS Credit Ctr., Inc. v. Horton, 926 So. 2d 167 (Miss. 2006) (right to arbitrate under Federal Arbitration Act waived because not pursued). In Bennett, McGuffie, and Theunissen, the defense – statute of limitations – went to the very existence of the claim. In Estate of Grimes, Adams, and Horton, the defenses pertained to the status of the defendant – immune from suit, properly served, or properly held to resolve the dispute in court. Those defenses do not inhere in the claim itself, and, therefore, are not within the control of the plaintiff. Necessarily, the plaintiff is prejudiced by being put to the expense of litigating with someone who, by virtue of status, is beyond the reach of the plaintiff's claims. The statute of limitations defense, on the other hand, is *entirely* within the plaintiff's control. If the plaintiff files suit in a timely fashion, the defense is extinguished. If the plaintiff does not file suit in a timely fashion, nothing anyone can do during the course of the litigation will alter the nature of the claim as extinguished, as "dead on arrival." The plaintiff's litigation posture is not altered in the slightest.

The law of Mississippi is that a statute of limitations defense is never waived unless the plaintiff is unfairly surprised by it or actually prejudiced in the conduct

of litigation by its untimely presentation.²⁰ Neither occurred here. The Plaintiffs and their counsel knew of the statute of limitations problem and tried to avoid it by artful pleading. Once this Court firmly cast the Plaintiffs' claims as being, if anything, intentional infliction of emotional distress, the statute of limitations arose as an insurmountable barrier because *Plaintiffs* filed their lawsuit too late. This decision predated any involvement in the litigation by Fluor Daniel and was not influenced by anything Fluor Daniel did or failed to do. Plaintiffs were put to no expense that they otherwise would not have incurred had the case gone to trial. They were deprived of no discovery or pretrial strategy or tactic that they otherwise would have had. No testimony or other evidence Plaintiffs could have developed through discovery would have altered the relationship between their dates of termination by Fluor Daniel and the dates they filed or joined the lawsuit against Fluor Daniel.

Fluor Daniel cannot imagine a scenario where a plaintiff could claim unfair surprise by the late presentation of a meritorious statute of limitations defense. The plaintiff and the plaintiff alone is in control of the facts necessary to create or avoid the defense. The Court need not decide that here, however, because these Plaintiffs clearly were *not* surprised by it: they anticipated it, they attempted to plead around it, they inquired about it in discovery, and they even had the trial

²⁰ Analogously, a Rule 12(b)(6) defense is not waived by its untimely assertion. <u>See Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(h)(2)</u> (failure to state a claim may be raised at a trial on the merits).

judge convinced for several hours that their position was correct. The only prejudice Plaintiffs suffered was losing on the merits, but that prejudice is not what they must suffer to claim waiver. Rather, they must prove that something they might have done during the litigation would have avoided the defense had they known about it earlier. Plaintiffs do not argue on appeal that such was the case because they cannot prove it. Fluor Daniel terminated them, and they waited too long to file suit. Nothing Plaintiffs could have done in the litigation process would have changed that indisputable circumstance.

The trial court was within its discretion to consider the statute of limitations defense raised in Fluor Daniel's two answers and in its second summary judgment motion. This argument presents no basis for reversal.

II. The Trial Court Properly Applied the One-Year Statute of Limitations Contained in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-35 to Plaintiffs' I.I.E.D. Claims

Once the Court reaches the conclusion, as Fluor Daniel is convinced it will, that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by considering Fluor Daniel's statute of limitations defense, the matter of affirming the trial court's summary judgment in Fluor Daniel's favor is logically unavoidable. No genuine issues of material fact existed (Plaintiffs do not contend otherwise), and the trial court properly determined that the one-year statute of limitations barred the Plaintiffs' i.i.e.d. claims. This Court reviews de novo a trial court's decision to grant summary

judgment. See, e.g., McMillan v. Rodriguez, 823 So. 2d 1173, 1176-77 ¶ 9 (Miss. 2002).

Plaintiffs correctly point out that the evolution of the case law on this issue was inconsistent. What defeats their argument, however, is that this consistency resolved itself long before Plaintiffs filed suit. Even the trial judge recognized this in reversing himself within a span of hours in reliance on what, at the time of the subject hearing in late January 2008, had been the Court's most recent pronouncement on the subject, Citifinancial Mortgage Co., Inc. v. Washington, 967 So. 2d 16 (Miss. 2007).²¹ Citifinancial holds that a one-year statute of limitations applies to i.i.e.d. claims. Id. at 19, ¶ 6. Citifinancial was the last in a line of cases that emerged from the settling dust in 2001, two years before these Plaintiffs artfully pled negligent infliction of emotional distress claims in order to avoid the statute of limitations bar. See also Jones v. B.L. Dev. Corp., 940 So. 2d 961, 965 ¶ 13 (Miss. App. 2006); Slaydon v. Hansford, 830 So. 2d 686, 688 ¶ 5 (Miss. App. 2002).²² Without question, Plaintiffs i.i.e.d. claims were barred if not filed within a year of the conduct forming the alleged basis of the tort.

This Court subsequently applied the one-year statute of limitations to the i.i.e.d. claim in Pierce v. Cook, 992 So. 2d 612 (Miss. 2008). The trial judge's abandonment of his own strict constructionist viewpoint in reaching his decision here sufficiently addresses Plaintiffs' laborious argument from that perspective in the Brief of Appellant. Whatever merits that argument might have had in times past, it is not the argument that finally won the day and established the now well-settled precedent on the question.

²² The rationale that won the day is set forth in clear detail in Judge Southwick's concurrence in <u>Slaydon</u>: i.i.e.d. is analogous to torts listed in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-35, and, therefore

Fluor Daniel's Itemization of Material Facts as to Which There Is No Genuine Issue, R.26, succinctly sets forth the simple, undisputed facts demonstrating that none of these Plaintiffs filed or joined this lawsuit in a timely manner. All were terminated by Fluor Daniel more than a year before they filed or joined the lawsuit. Plaintiffs' termination dates necessarily defined when the statute of limitiations began to run on their i.i.e.d. claims. Plaintiffs did not take exception to this analysis in the trial court and do not contest it here. Plaintiffs concede, in other words, that their i.i.e.d. claims are time barred if they were subject to a one-year statute of limitations. They were; and, consequently, the trial court properly concluded that Plaintiffs' i.i.e.d. claims should be dismissed with prejudice.

III. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Denying as Moot Plaintiffs' Motion for a Protective Order

Fluor Daniel is unsure why Plaintiffs have raised this issue. Plaintiffs' protective order motion (R. 28) was targeted at two interrogatories and two requests for production (R. 79) Fluor Daniel served shortly before trial to determine who Plaintiffs' witnesses would be and what their exhibits would be. The trial court denied the motion *as moot* after deciding to grant Fluor Daniel's summary judgment motion (R.60). If this Court reverses the trial court on the summary judgment order, Plaintiffs are free to file the motion, although it is

i.i.e.d. should be governed by that statute's one-year limitations period. See Slaydon v. Hansford, 830 So. 2d at 690-92, ¶¶ 11-23.

impossible to imagine how Plaintiffs then would be prejudiced by the pendency of the discovery. The trial court, citing its "broad general policy" favoring pretrial disclosure of witnesses and exhibits, initially denied the motion at the hearing and was within its discretion to do so. Plaintiffs now complain about a more favorable ruling on the motion. In any event, it is hard to imagine a sounder act of discretion by a trial court than denying as moot a motion designed to hide the identity of trial witnesses and trial exhibits in a case that does not even go to trial because of a contemporaneous ruling by the trial court.

CONCLUSION

Summary judgment was the appropriate disposition of the Plaintiffs' i.i.e.d. claims. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by considering Fluor Daniel's statute of limitations defense and correctly determined that Plaintiffs' i.i.e.d. claims were time-barred. Fluor Daniel respectfully requests that the Court affirm the trial court's decision dismissing Plaintiffs' i.i.e.d. claims with prejudice as barred by the applicable one-year statute of limitations.